
Meeting papers

Pension Board

Monday 16 October 2017 at 10.00 am

Members' Room - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:6 October 2017     

Pension Board

Monday 16 October 2017 at 10.00 am

Members' Room - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies.  

Jo Moore

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 24)

a) To confirm the minutes of the Pension Board meeting held on 24 
March 2017

b) To note the minutes of the Pension Committee meetings held on 
the following dates: 

i. 29 March 2017

ii. 2 June 2017

iii. 1 September 2017 

Jo Moore

INFORMATION REPORTS

3  ASSET ALLOCATION AND INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE OF THE 
FUND (Pages 25 - 30)

Mark Spilsbury

4  RISK REGISTER (Pages 31 - 38) Mark Spilsbury

5  EXTERNAL AUDIT REPORT (Pages 39 - 64) Mark Spilsbury

6  IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MARKETS IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
DIRECTIVE (Pages 65 - 66)

Mark Spilsbury

7  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND FUNDING UPDATE (Pages 67 - 
76)

Mark Spilsbury



    

EXEMPT REPORTS

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Pension Board to resolve that, in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public to be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda 
items because it is likely that if members of the public were present at the meeting there would 
be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 
A to the Act, and that the public interest in withholding this information could outweigh the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public. 

8  EXEMPT MINUTES (Pages 77 - 110)

a) To confirm the exempt minutes of the Pension Board meeting held 
on 24 March 2017

b) To note the exempt minutes of the Pension Committee meetings 
held on the following dates: 

i. 29 March 2017

ii. 2 June 2017

iii. 1 September 2017 

Mark Spilsbury

9  LOCAL AUTHORITY PENSION FUND PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 
(Pages 111 - 120)

Mark Spilsbury

10  MOVEMENT TOWARDS THE NEW STRATEGIC INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY (Pages 121 - 124)

Mark Spilsbury

11  BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP - SHORT VERBAL UPDATE Mark Spilsbury

12  PENSION ADMINISTRATION PERFORMANCE (Pages 125 - 126) Mark 
Spilsbury/Alan 
Marshall

Membership –  Cllr Nigel Moor ,Sean Collins (Head of Pensions, Oxfordshire County Council), 
Owen Shaw (Member representative), Jon Topping (Head of Finance, Gloucester City Council) and 
John Wills (Head of Finance, Gloucestershire University)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Officer :01452 324196 
/fax: 425850/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Friday 24 March 2017 at 
Shire Hall, Gloucester. 

Present:
Sean Collins
Cllr Nigel Moor
Owen Shaw

Jon Topping
Kate Walton

Officers in attendance:

Graham Burrow, Jo Moore and Mark Spilsbury

37. APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies at the meeting. 

Kate Walton, an employee member of the Pension Board, announced she would be 
leaving the University of Gloucestershire on 12 May 2017. Kate advised that the 
University would like to nominate a replacement representative to the Board, and 
that, she herself, would like to continue as a member representative. It was 
suggested the Joint Head of the Pension Fund would refer to the governance 
arrangements of the Pension Board and make the necessary arrangements to seek 
a replacement member. 

Graham Burrow, Joint Head of the Pension Fund, announced he would be retiring 
from Gloucestershire County Council on 11 May 2017. The Pension Board thanked 
Graham for his hard work and commitment and wished him well in his forthcoming 
retirement. 

Mark Spilsbury, Joint Head of the Pension Fund, confirmed he would be taking on 
the role of ‘Head of the Pension Fund’ following Graham’s  retirement. 

Members noted that, pending the forthcoming County Council election on 4 May 
2017, there may be further changes to the membership of the Pension Board. 

38. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The non-exempt minutes of the Pension Board meeting held on 26 October 2016 
were confirmed as an accurate record of that meeting. 

39. MINUTES OF THE PENSION COMMITTEE 

The minutes of the Pension Committee meeting held on Friday 10 February 2017 
were noted. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

40. RISK REGISTER 

Joint Head of the Pension Fund, Graham Burrow, gave an update on the Pension 
Fund Risk Register. The risk register is presented to the Pension Committee on a 6 
monthly basis and was last presented to the committee in August 2016. 

In response to feedback from the Pension Board, and subsequent agreement by 
the Pension Committee to consider a quarterly report on the Risk Register as a 
standing item, it was confirmed that the information below would be presented to 
the Pension Committee at the committee meeting on 29 March 2017. Clarification 
of the new arrangement was welcomed by the Pension Board.  

During the discussion, it was agreed to clarify the risks referred to under G7 of the 
risk register, (failure to hold personal data securely and keep pension records up-to-
date and accurate), and to confirm whether the risks were external or internal 
related risks. 

It was also agreed to look at the status/level of risk at F4 of the Risk Register, 
(Increasing Pension Fund Deficit), and to review the risk at FD7, (Adverse effect on 
the Fund’s Investment Strategy and Employer Contributions, if ‘large’ numbers of 
active members were outsourced on a “closed” (to new entrants) basis). It was 
suggested the description of the risk be considered, (particularly in relation to the 
reference ‘large numbers’), rather than review the impact of the risk. 

Several members supported the proposal that a ‘direction of travel’ symbol be 
applied to each risk to update members on the status of the risk over time and to 
enable them to make comparisons with the previous stages of review. This was 
agreed. 

The risk register was noted, including the amendments identified in the published 
officer report. 

41. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that:  

In accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, because it was likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act 
and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

42. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 26 October 2016 were confirmed and 
agreed as a correct record of that meeting. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

43. EXEMPT DRAFT MINUTES OF THE PENSION COMMITTEE 

The exempt minutes of the Pension Committee meeting held on Friday 10 February 
2017 were noted. 

44. STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
STATEMENT 

Joint Head of the Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, referred to the requirements of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme ‘Management and Investment of Funds 
Regulations’ and requested that the Board consider the adequacy of the 
procedures for the production of the Draft Strategic Asset Allocation and the 
Investment Strategy Statement. 

The Pension Board noted the report and agreed robust processes had been 
followed in terms of formulation of the Draft Strategic Asset Allocation and 
consultation with Employers. 

The Pension Board supported the proposal for officers to continue to work on this 
issue, with a view to coming back to the Pension Committee with a final proposed 
Strategic Asset Allocation at the committee meeting on 29 March 2017. 

45. PENSION ADMINISTRATION REPORT 

Joint Head of the Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, provided an update on the 
Pension Fund’s administrative arrangements for 2016, including updates on 
Pension Administration Benchmarking and Pension Administration Performance, 
and an indication of how the Gloucestershire Fund compared with other funds. 

The report was noted, with a request for further updates at 6 monthly updates. 

46. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 

At the last meeting of the Pension Board, members requested an update on the 
governance arrangements relating to the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

Joint Head of the Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, confirmed that in December 2016, 
Gloucestershire County Council had agreed that the Brunel Pension Partnership 
Investment Pool be developed, funded and implemented, in accordance with the 
detailed business case. 

The report was noted, followed by a request for further updates. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.45am

It was agreed the next Board meeting would be held in October 2017. 

Summary of items suggested for consideration at future meetings: 

i. Pension Board Annual Report – a draft version of the report to be circulated for 
comment by email in August. The final version of the report to be signed off in mid 
September 2017. Action by – Sean Collins 

ii. Risk Register Quarter Report – the report to be considered as a standing agenda 
item at each Pension Board meeting. The Pension Board to refer any comments to 
the Pension Committee. 

iii. Strategic Asset Allocation and the Investment Strategy Statement Update (October 
meeting) 

iv. Brunel Update – every 6 months (October meeting) 

v. Pension Administration update – every 6 months (October meeting)
 

Page 4



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Wednesday 29 March 
2017 commencing at 1.30 pm.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr David Brown
Cllr Jasminder Gill
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Cllr Nigel Cooper
Peter Clark
Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Apologies: Lynden Oliver Stowe and Sharon Crane

In Attendance:  Cllr Moor, Jo Walker, Graham Burrow, Mark Spilsbury, Steve Tyson 
(Independent Advisor), Andy Gilbert (BlackRock) and Andrea 
Griffiths.  

16. MINUTES - 

Cllr Theodoulou thanked Graham for his contributions to the committee and wished 
him well in retirement.  

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

No additional declarations were made to those already recorded.

18. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.

19. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.

20. REVIEW OF THE FUND'S  RISK REGISTER 

20.1 Graham Burrow introduced the risk register explaining that it had been reviewed in 
August 2016.  Following feedback from the Pension Board the Pension Committee 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

had agreed that in the future a report on the Risk Register would be considered at 
each of their regular quarterly meetings.  

20.2 The risk register was a live document and therefore it was important for it to reflect 
the discussion carried out by the Committee. The committee requested that 
comments be included in the risk register to recognise the active monitoring and 
management of risk.

20.3 The Committee were informed that F1 (Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line 
with the anticipated returns underpinning valuation of liabilities over the long-term) 
& F5 (Active investment manager under-performance relative to benchmark) areas 
of risk were being monitored and would be kept under review by officers.  

20.4 One member felt that A\R1 (Significant additional costs resulting from changes to 
national pension requirements and / or HMRC rules) should also reflect the 
administration to the fund.  Jo Walker agreed that this point would be addressed.   
Action – Graham Burrow

20.5 In response to a question relating to G6 (lack of relevant expertise, knowledge and 
skills at officer and member level in relation to administering the LGPS), the 
residual risk likelihood score of 2 was questioned in context of the current 
performance against PI’s.  Mark Spilsbury agreed that this would be reviewed in the 
context of current performance.  Action Mark Spilsbury 

20.6 One member commented that it was worth noting on A\R3 (Loss of funds through 
fraud or misappropriation) that the Authority had experienced Counter Fraud Unit 
within Internal Audit and that Internal Audit also worked with Counter Fraud 
colleagues in the Districts and Health.  It was agreed that the risk description should 
be expanded to include this.  Action – Graham Burrow

20.7 One member requested that A\R4 (Does the fund have sufficient resources to 
provide sufficient input to the development of the South West Regional Pool without 
having a detrimental effect on the service provided) be reviewed and the wording 
be amended to reflect the Brunel risk.  It was also agreed that the directional arrows 
be reintroduced and the colour coding in relation to risk appetite be checked and 
amended where necessary. Action – Graham Burrow

20.8 Councillor Moor gave feedback from the Pension Board.  He explained that it was 
necessary to clarify the risks referred to under G7 (failure to hold personal data 
securely and keep pension records up-to-date and accurate) of the risk register and 
to confirm whether the risks were internal or external related risks.  

It was resolved that: 

The Committee reviewed and agreed the Risk Register, subject to the 
approved amendments.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

21. SUPREME COURT RULING ON NOMINATION FORM RE PENSION BENEFITS 
FOR PARTNERS 

21.1 Graham Burrow informed the Committee that the Supreme Court had ruled there 
was no justification for the LGPS in Northern Ireland to require a member to 
complete a nomination form as a pre-requisite for a co-habiting unmarried partner 
to be eligible for a survivor's pension. 

21.2 The Court ruled it was sufficient that the survivor met the definition of a co-habiting 
partner. This definition is:
• the partner and scheme member were living together for 2 years or more.
• had some shared financial commitments and
• neither was already married, in a civil partnership or in another long-term 

relationship with anyone else.

21.3 It was noted that this decision did not have an impact on any procedural changes 
for the Gloucestershire LGPS as the regulations were amended for England and 
Wales in 2013 (as part of the new 2014 LGPS) removing the nomination 
requirement for unmarried couples and just requiring that the survivor met the 
definition of a co-habiting partner.   

21.4 As requested at a previous Pension Committee meeting, Officers asked the Fund's 
actuary to advise whether they had taken account of these potential pension costs 
in their assumptions when calculating liabilities.  The actuary confirmed they had 
taken account of this in their assumptions and did not expect this ruling to have any 
significant impact on the Fund liabilities.

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

22. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, because it is 
likely that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them 
of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to 
the Act and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

23. EXEMPT MINUTES 

23.1 Mark Spilsbury updated the committee in relation to item 15.3 from the exempt 
minutes.  It was noted that further legal advice was being sought and officers would 
continue to pursue this matter in consultation with the chair Cllr Theodoulou and 
update the committee at their next meeting.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

23.2 The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 10th February 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

24. REPORT ON TRANSITION OF INVESTMENT MANDATE 

24.1 Graham Burrow introduced the report and updated the Committee on the transition 
of the Investment Mandate.   

25. CONSIDERATION OF OPTIONS FOR THE STRATEGIC ASSET REVIEW AND 
THE INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (ISS) 

25.1 Mark Spilsbury updated members on the options for the Strategic Asset Allocation 
and the Investment Strategy Statement.  

26. REVIEW OF INVESTMENT MANDATE 

26.1 Graham Burrow updated the Committee on the Investment Mandate.  

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 3.23 pm

Page 8



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 2 June 2017 
commencing at 10.00 am.

Present: 
Cllr Nigel Cooper
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Ray Theodoulou

27. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou was elected as Chairman for the 2017/18 year. 

Cllr Colin Hay suggested appointing a Vice Chairman of the Committee, to facilitate 
at meetings in the absence of the Chairman. The committee noted the suggestion 
and agreed to consider at the next meeting. 

Action by – Andrea Griffiths 

28. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from co-opted member, Peter Clark, (Staff and Trade 
Union representative). 

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Cllr Brian Oosthuysen informed members of a small pension received from 
Gloucestershire County Council and enquired if it would be necessary to make a 
declaration of interest at the meeting. Cllr Oosthuysen was advised it would not be 
necessary to make a declaration of interest.  

Cllr Lynden Stowe stated he was no longer a share holder of UBICO. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou confirmed he was a UBICO shareholder, but was advised it 
would not be necessary to declare an interest on this position.

30. MINUTES - 

The non-exempt minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2017 were agreed and 
signed as a correct record of that meeting. 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Referring to point 20.6 of the minutes, it was confirmed that the fund was subject to 
audits undertaken by the County Council Internal Audit and Risk Section, who also 
had an agreement with the Gloucestershire Counter Fraud Unit to provide 
additional services, if required, regarding the risk of loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation. 

31. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were considered at the meeting.  

32. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No member questions were submitted for consideration at the meeting.  

33. MARKET VALUATIONS AND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF THE 
FUND Q1 2017 

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, presented an overview of market valuations 
and an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Scheme, (LGPS), as at 31 March 2017. It was reported that, given the 
phased implementation of the new strategic asset allocation from 1 April 2017, this 
would be the last report to use the old strategic asset allocation. 

The report was sub-divided into four areas, detailing information on i) Manager 
Performance; ii) Asset Allocation; iii) Market Values, and iv) Cash Position. 

The Head of Pension Fund informed members that performance was slightly below 
benchmark targets for Quarter 1 but that there had been positive returns during the 
past 12 months. Overall, the outlook looked positive.  

It was agreed to consider the introduction of the phased implementation of the new 
strategic asset allocation in the exempt part of the meeting. 

The performance report was noted, (pending the potential impact of the forthcoming 
general election on 8 June 2017), including proposed minor changes to future 
reports. 

34. BUSINESS PLAN 2017/18 

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, gave an update on the Gloucestershire 
Local Government Pension Fund Business Plan 2017-18. 

Prepared in accordance with the Department of Communities and Local 
Government best practice guidance for the governance of pension funds, the 
business plan confirmed that, at 31 December 2016, the Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) had approximately 52,100 members, 
consisting of 18,700 active, 18,800 deferred and 14,600 retired, 
(pensioner/dependent), members. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Of the 256 employer bodies within the fund, 187 of these were active contributing 
members. The value of the investment assets being managed at 31 March 2017 
was £2.08 billion. The committee was advised the fund was making good progress 
under the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

Outlining the operating costs of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, the Head of 
Pension Fund clarified that the costs were borne by the Fund and not by the County 
Council. Estimated costs within the proposed budget for 2017/18 were slightly down 
at £7,531 million, mainly attributed to the reduction in external finance manager 
fees. It was agreed Brunel costs would be shown separately on future budget 
updates and details of budgeted Brunel costs for 2017/18 would be provided to the 
Committee. Action by – Head of Pension Fund.

Highlighting the importance of training for committee members and officers, it was 
suggested members with an interest in attending external training events and 
seminars notify the Head of Pension Fund.  

In noting key targets and major milestones for the Pension Fund for the remainder 
of 2017/18, member’s attention was drawn to Appendix A of the report, outlining the 
schedule of committee meetings at which key topics, including the following targets 
would be considered: - 

i. Continued development of the Brunel Pooling Partnership, (to meet the 
operational deadline of 1 April 2018); 

ii. Confirm the contents of the 2016/17 Annual Report – 1 September 2017

iii. Accounts agreed by the Audit and Governance Committee – 28 July 2017

iv. Issue of Annual Benefit Statements to Fund Members – By 31 August 2017

v. Annual Pension Fund Report printed by 31 October 2017 – to be considered 
at the Annual Meeting on 1 December 2017.

In response to feedback from a member of the committee, (who was not present at 
the meeting), it was agreed a new target would be added to the Business Plan as 
follows: - 

To improve actual performance against service standards agreed by the Committee 
in 2017/18 for the administration of the Gloucestershire LGPS; striving to achieve 
high performance at all times. 

The report was noted. 

35. RISK REGISTER 

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, gave an update on the Gloucestershire 
Fund Risk Register. It was confirmed that all of the issues raised at the Pension 
Committee and Pension Board meetings in March had been addressed following 
the recent review of the register.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Subject to minor amendment, (including editing risk reference FI to reflect concerns 
about the duration of the risk), the summary of key changes detailed at page 25 of 
the agenda were noted and agreed.

Expressing concerns about the potential threat to cyber security, the committee 
proposed investigating this element of risk in more depth, and this was agreed. 
Action by – Director: Strategic Finance

36. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

In noting the confidential elements of the agenda, the committee - 

RESOLVED that:  

In accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, because it was likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest 
in disclosing the information to the public.

37. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2017 were agreed and 
signed as a correct record of the meeting.

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pension Fund, updated members on issues relating to 
Cotswold Water Park. 

38. PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

The minutes of the Pension Board meeting held on 24 March 2017 were noted. 

Invited to speak at the meeting, board member, Cllr Nigel Moor, commended the 
new arrangements that had been put in place for consideration of the Pension Fund 
Risk Register. Cllr Moor stated that the new arrangements created a more effective 
process of presenting the information. 

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, informed members that Kate Walton had 
retired from the University of Gloucestershire in May 2017 and was no longer an 
employee member of the Board. John Wills, Head of Finance at the University had 
been appointed employee representative and would join the Pension Board in 
October 2017. 

38.1 Investment Update 

Independent Advisor, Steve Tyson, provided members with an update on current 
investments ahead of the discussions with investment managers. The committee 
noted updates on the long term investment strategy and other investment strategy 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

considerations, including comparisons with the position of the investments made 
pre the EU referendum. 

References were made to investment proposals about to be considered under item 
13 of the agenda, and the possible need for further changes to move towards the 
new strategic asset allocation, post the general election. 

The committee noted the report and,  

RESOLVED that: - 

Post the general election, additional investment proposals be submitted to the 
Committee, designed to reduce risk and to continue to move towards the new 
strategic asset allocation.

39. PRIVATE DEBT MANDATE 

To meet the requirements of a new private credit asset class allocation, (agreed by 
the committee on 29 March 2017), the Pension Committee was asked to consider 
the appointment of Blue Bay and Golub, as Fund Managers for the private debt 
mandate.  

Cllr Ray Theodoulou declared a non-pecuniary declaration of interest in advance of 
the meeting, and agreed not to take part in the discussion nor vote on the 
recommendations included in the report. Cllr Theodoulou made the declaration due 
to a family member, (son), being employed by Blue Bay Asset Limited. 

Based on the proposals circulated with the agenda, and taking into account 
information presented at the meeting, and following the meeting, the committee,  

RESOLVED to approve the recommendations, (as amended), included within the 
exempt report, taking into account the information presented at the meeting, and 
following the meeting.

40. INVESTMENT REPORT - HERMES 

Fund Director, Chris Matthew and Head of Client Relationship Management, Gareth 
Davies, gave a presentation on the performance of Hermes Property Unit Trust 
(HPUT), setting out the company strategy going forward. The committee considered 
the information and,  

RESOLVED that the presentation be noted   

41. INVESTMENT REPORT - STANDARD LIFE 

Fund Manager, Andrew Millington and Investment Director, Fraser Macnair, gave a 
presentation on the performance of Standard Life Investments, setting out the 
company strategy going forward. The committee considered the information and,  

RESOLVED that the presentation be noted 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

42. LGPS POOLING 

Jo Walker, Director of Strategic Finance, gave a verbal update on the Brunel 
Pension Partnership. 

Responding to questions, Director: Strategic Finance, Jo Walker sought the views 
of the committee. 

The committee noted the update, and 

Endorsed the proposal that the membership of the LGPS should be offered as part 
of a remuneration package for new employees. The committee expressed a view 
that the membership should close after 3 years and revisited after two years. 

           Meeting concluded at 2.20 pm 

Page 14



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 1 September 
2017 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Nigel Cooper
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Peter Clark

Apologies: Sharon Crane

In Attendance: Jo Walker, Mark Spilsbury, Steve Tyson (Independent Advisor) and 
Andrea Griffiths.

43. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Councillors Theodoulou, Parsons and Stowe all declared they were members of 
Cotswold District Council.  Councillor Hay also declared he was a member of 
Cheltenham Borough Council.  

44. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.  

45. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

46. MINUTES - 

The public summary minutes were approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.  

The following actions were noted, in relation to: 
- Minute 27, The Chairman added that any member, who had a proposal in 

relation to the Vice-Chairman, should submit it to Democratic Services prior to 
the next meeting.  Action – Members 

- Minute 34, Members had previously requested the budgeted Brunel costs for 
2017/18.  The Head of the Pension Fund informed the Committee that costs for 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

2017/18 were £260K and the fund cost for 2018/19 would be £520K.   The 
Chairman added that the Brunel Pension Partnership had a long term payback 
period.  It was noted that the alleviation of costs was discussed with Ministers.  
However, the Treasury’s view was that the Fund would be making substantial 
savings, and should not be averse to making a substantial investment.  

In response to a question, the Head of the Pension Fund explained when the 
new managers were appointed to Brunel, it would then be possible to provide 
details of the transition costs.  

- Minutes 35, The Committee previously requested that the risks associated with 
Cyber Security be investigated in more depth.  The Strategic Director of 
Finance explained that two system audits on SAP & Cyber Security were being 
undertaken and the outcome would be disseminated via the risk register.  In 
response to a question, it was noted that the Audits terms of reference would 
include obtaining assurance from Fund Managers.  

47. MARKET VALUATIONS & QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF FUND 
Q2 

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, presented an overview of market valuations 
and an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Scheme, (LGPS), as at 30 June 2017. It was reported that this was the first 
report which used the new strategic asset allocation as agreed by Committee in 
March 2017, for implementation from 1 April 2017.  The short term (pre-Brunel) 
strategic asset allocation was shown within the report.   

The report was sub-divided into four areas, detailing information on i) Manager 
Performance; ii) Asset Allocation; iii) Market Values, and iv) Cash Position. The 
Committee discussed the report in detail.  

The Head of Pension Fund informed members that performance was slightly above 
the benchmark targets for Quarter 2,  It was reported that the performance return 
was positive during the past 12 months and overall, the outlook looked positive.  

Resolved 

That the performance report was noted.  

48. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MARKETS IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
DIRECTIVE 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  He proceeded to 
explain that this was a standard report produced by the Local Government 
Association which all of the Funds within the Brunel Pool were submitting to their 
Pension Committees, as recommended by the LGA, to get approval to opt up to 
professional client status.

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

It was explained that the Gloucestershire LGPS already had this status but under 
the amended MIFID 2 Directive, all LGPS Funds would be down graded to retail 
investor status.

Members appreciated it was a technical report which sets out the implications of 
having retail status in paragraphs 4 to 6, and gave the process for opting up.  In 
practice the clear expectation was that all Pension Funds would be granted 
professional client status.

It was put into context, as the minimum level of Assets under management need to 
be considered for professional status was £10 million.

The Head of the Pension Fund explained that there was really no choice because if 
retail status continued past 3 January 2018 investment costs would rocket and most 
of the financial institutions we dealt with, including the new custodian/administrator 
appointed under the Brunel partnership, may well refuse to deal with us, or at least 
reduce the products available to us.

In response to a question, Members were informed that the level of training 
received was comparable to other Authorities.  It was noted that newly appointed 
members to the Pension Committee were required to attend an LGA Pension 
Committee training course.   The Chairman added if members wanted any further 
training, they should contact the Head of the Pension Fund directly to make the 
necessary arrangements.  Members requested that any training opportunities be 
actively flagged up for their attention.  Action – Mark Spilsbury/Members

The Head of the Pension Fund and the Independent Advisor agreed to discuss 
possible areas for training, which included private debt, responsible investing, 
ethical investments, etc.  The consensus was that more regular training would be 
beneficial to members. It was suggested that perhaps the LGA should host a 
condensed refresher training event, in order to keep members up to date.  The 
Strategic Director of Finance agreed to relay this view to the LGA. Action – Jo 
Walker

It was noted that all LGPS Funds were being expected to go through this process.  
Therefore, the Committee was asked to approve the recommendations set out on 
Page 17 of the report, which basically meant the Fund retains the status quo going 
forward.

Resolved 

That the Pensions Committee approved the report recommendations, which 
were as follows: 

i. The Committee noted the potential impact on investment strategy of 
becoming a retail client with effect from 3rd January 2018

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

ii. The Committee agreed to the immediate commencement of applications 
for elected professional client status with all relevant institutions in order 
to ensure it can continue to implement an effective investment strategy.

iii. In electing for professional client status the committee acknowledges and 
agrees to forgo the protections available to retail clients attached as in 
Appendix 1.

iv. The Committee agreed to approve delegated responsibility to the 
Strategic Finance Director and the Head of Pensions for the purposes of 
completing the applications and determining the basis of the application 
as either a full or single service.

49. PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  The draft Pension 
Fund Annual Report for 2016/17, was prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations, which set out what should be included 
with Annual Reports.

It was noted that the report largely followed previous year’s reports in terms of 
content and style.  However, because the timetable for the completion of Annual 
Accounts had now been brought forward, the draft Pension Fund Annual Report, 
also included the External Auditors opinion on the Pension Fund Accounts.

Officers were pleased to report that the External Auditors concluded that the 
accounts presented a true and fair view and had been properly prepared in 
accordance with Codes of Practice for Local Authority Accounting.  It was explained 
that no errors were identified in the accounts and the quality of the supporting 
papers were praised by the auditors.

The regulations governing the content of the Annual Report required it to be 
published on or before 1st December following the year end, and subject to any 
changes requested by the Committee, it was intended that the final Annual Report 
would be submitted to full Council at its December meeting.

Members noted that it was a very long report, however there was limited flexibility 
regarding the content.

During the discussion the following amendments were agreed: 
- That any additional information required within the introduction be delegated 

to the Chairman and the Director of Strategic Finance.  
- That the funding level be included within the report, 
- That the Administration’s function and performance be included within the 

report.  
- The report required conformity and alignment throughout.
- Page 49 of the report, a photo for all members of the Committee be included 

(Peter Clark picture missing) 

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

- Page 56 of the report, The Analysis of Pension Overpayments be amended 
to thousands, in order to avoid any confusion. 

- Page 61 of the report, Membership Summary dates needed to be amended 
accordingly.

- Page 89, Councillor Stowe remarked that he had attended two training 
sessions in 2016/17.  

- Page 97 of the report, Principle E14, Peter Clark informed the Committee 
that he had not received or completed a self assessment form.  The Head of 
Pension Fund agreed to check the maintained records.  Action – Mark 
Spilsbury.  

- Page 117, Councillor Parsons had been omitted from the membership list.  

The Head of the Pension Fund explained that the Pensions Team were focused 
on producing and distributing the Annual Statements to over 50,000 LGPS 
members  Members noted that this had a detrimental effect on the Performance 
Indicators, and would need time to recuperate.  It was noted four additional 
members of staff had been recruited to help with the process.   

In response to a question relating to ‘Death Gratuities’, Officers explained that it 
was important to ensure the payment was made promptly to alleviate any further 
stress to the recipient and if necessary, cases of hardship could be processed 
quicker.  In the Annual Report, the term Gratuities will be changed to Grants.  

The Committee questioned the sudden increase in the overpayment figure, as 
detailed on page 56 of the report.  Officers explained that one large 
overpayment had been made, however this had now been recovered.  

It was noted that the Pension Fund Annual Report was available on the GCC 
website and copies were available at the Annual LGPS Meeting. Members were 
informed that a summary was sent to all LGPS pensioners, members requested 
in the future, to view the summary prior to despatch.  Action – Mark Spilsbury   

Members discussed the issue of fraud and if the police were reluctant to 
prosecute, then the Counter Fraud Hub should be delegated with the task of 
investigating any such claims.  The Director of Strategic Finance agreed to 
discuss this further with the Chief Internal Auditor.  

Resolved 

That the report be approved, subject to the following amendments: 
- That any additional information required within the introduction be 

delegated to the Chairman and the Director of Strategic Finance.  
- That the funding level review be included within the report, 
- That the Administration’s function and performance be included within 

the report.  
- The report required conformity and alignment throughout.
- Page 56 of the report, The Analysis of Pension Overpayments be 

amended to thousands, in order to avoid any confusion. 
- Page 61 of the report, Membership Summary dates be amended 

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

- Page 49 of the report, a photo for all members of the Committee be 
included (Peter Clark picture missing) 

- Page 89, Councillor Stowe remarked that he had attended two training 
sessions in 2016/17.  

- Page 117, Councillor Parsons had been omitted from the membership 
list.  

- Page 97 of the report, Principle E14, Peter Clark informed the 
Committee that he had not received or completed a self assessment 
form.  

50. PENSION BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, presented the report.  

It was noted that the terms of reference for the local Pension Board of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund stated that the Board would 
provide an annual report to the Pension Committee and also to the County Council, 
on 6th December 2017.

The Head of the Pension Fund explained whilst taking account of the relevant 
LGPS regulations and guidance, the Gloucestershire LGPS decided to appoint an 
independent non voting chair of the Pension Board. An independent chair of the 
Pension Board cannot have any involvement (e.g. through membership or employer 
links) with the local pension scheme they would be chairing, but having good 
experience, knowledge of the LGPS would be advantageous and would assist the 
other Board members in their role. To comply with these requirements the 
Gloucestershire LGPS invited the Head of the Pension Fund at the Oxfordshire 
LGPS, Sean Collins, to become chair of the Gloucestershire Pension Board. In 
response to a question, it was noted that the Head of the Pension Fund, Mark 
Spilsbury in return chaired Oxfordshire’s Pension Board and these arrangements 
appeared to work well.   The Committee was informed that the Pension Board had 
no decision making powers, their role was purely on a governance basis which 
added value.    

Members wished to know what were the costs involved in the Pension Board, the 
Committee were informed that the only costs involved were minimal and were for 
mileage expenses and officer time.  It was suggested that the minimal costs 
involved should be noted within the report.  

In response to a question, it was noted that members of the board were appointed 
for a period of four years.  During the discussion, it was remarked that Unison felt 
there was potential for a conflict of interests with the positions only being filled by 
Directors.  The Director of Strategic Finance explained that all organisations were 
asked for nominations and there was nothing preventing people from attending the 
meetings if they so wished.  

Resolved 
That the report be noted

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

51. THE ACTUARY'S REPORT ON THE FUND AT 30TH JUNE 2017. 

Mark Spilsbury, The Head of the Pension Fund presented the Actuary’s Report in 
detail.  The Funding Update Report represents a ‘point in time’ measurement of the 
funding position, including making comparisons and assumptions between funding 
levels and financial market data reported by Hymans Robertson, (as Fund Actuary), 
at 31st March 2016 and 30th June 2017.

Members were informed that the funding level at the 30th June 2017 valuation had 
been 83.4%. The funding level at 31st March 2016 formal valuation was 79.6%. This 
represented a deficit of £435m at 31st March 2016 decreasing to a deficit of £417m 
at 30th June 2017.   The estimated change in the deficit as at 30 June 2017 was 
largely due to asset outperformance since March 2016.

During the discussion it was noted that different actuaries had different views.  The 
Director of Strategic Finance explained that on occasion people needed to access 
their LGPS earlier than anticipated due to terminal illnesses, etc.  The Pensions 
team dealt with any issues that arose in order to assist LGPS members.   

Resolved 

That the Funding Update Report was noted. 

52. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

As the Administrative Authority, Gloucestershire County Council was required to 
maintain, and keep under review, a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) for the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. The Council was also required to identify any risks 
associated with the Pension Fund and the measures or controls taken to counter 
such risks. The Risk Register was last reviewed by the Pension Committee in 
March 2017. 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, informed members that since the Risk 
Register was reviewed in August 2017, a number of changes had been made to the 
following risks F2, F4, F9 and F/D2 as a result new period comments had been 
inserted. 

In addition, it was noted that the direction of travel arrow relating to F2 needed to be 
amended.  Action – Mark Spilsbury 

During the discussion, members requested to know what proportion of staff were 
members of the LGPS.  The Head of the Pension Fund agreed to circulate this 
information in due course.  Action – Mark Spilsbury 

The committee noted and agreed the amendments to the Risk Register, as 
highlighted by the published report. 

Resolved 

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

 
That the Committee reviewed and agreed the attached Risk Register, which 
included the amendments included within the Risk Register.

53. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

54. EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 2nd June 2017 were agreed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

55. PIRC ANNUAL FUND REVIEW 

Karen Trumble, PIRC gave a detailed presentation relating to the Annual Fund 
Review.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.    

56. INVESTMENT UPDATE 

Steve Tyson, Independent Pension Advisor, presented information on investment 
issues and the position of the financial markets. 

Resolved 

The update was noted.  

57. REPORT BACK FROM JUNE 2017 MANGERS MEETINGS 

Steve Tyson, Independent Pension Advisor, gave a detailed update on the Fund 
Managers meeting which was held in London on the 29th June 2017.

Resolved 

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

That the report be noted. 

58. INVESTMENT PRESENTATION 

Marian George and Catherine Matthews from the Western Asset Investment 
Company gave a detailed presentation on the Investment Company’s portfolio.

59. NEW INVESTMENT PROPOSALS 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, gave a detailed presentation which 
highlighted the Strategic Asset Allocation for 2017/2020.  

Resolved 

That the Committee accepted the Officer’s recommendation.  

60. ADMISSION BODIES REQUEST 

The committee received a report from the Director of Strategic Finance. 

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officer’s recommendation.  

  

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 2.03 pm

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 1

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  

Pension Board 16th October 2017
2nd Qtr to 30th June 2017

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

This report provides details of the performance of the Gloucestershire LGPS as at 30 June 2017. 

It uses the new strategic asset allocation agreed by the Pension Committee in March 2017 for implementation
from 1 April 2017. The short term (pre-Brunel) stategic asset allocation is shown in this report. 

This report is sub-divided into two areas as follows:

Page 2 Manager Performance
Market values for each fund manager and their performance to date, measured against agreed benchmarks.  

Page 3 Asset Allocation
Fund market values as a reflection of their current weighting against the Gloucestershire LGPS short term (pre Brunel) strategic asset

allocation from 1 April 2017. 

Recommendation
That the Board notes the performance report.

Contact Officers:  Mark Spilsbury - Telephone 01452 328920

Performance figures received from BNY Mellon Asset Servicing on Business Day 15, therefore full verification
has not been made by officers and may be subject to change.

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 1

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund #REF!
Committee Reporting
2nd Quarter to 30 June 2017

Manager Performance (Gross)
Performance returns stated are gross of fees. Derivatives are valued at notional value.

Current Qtr 12 months to Rolling 3 yrs to Since Inception to
Bid Market 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-17
Valuation Total Return Total Return Annualised Return Annualised Return

Manager Mandate
Performance

Target Benchmark Indices 30-Jun-17
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

% Benchmark %

£'000

Standard Life # UK Equity +2% net FTSE All Share 390,393 0.4 1.4 20.6 19.0 5.4 7.0 7.1 7.6

Standard Life - GARS Global Absolute Return Strategies Fund Benchmark 6 month sterling libor +5% 77,726 1.6 1.3 4.3 5.5 3.2 5.7 4.7 5.6

BlackRock EM Emerging Markets - Passive Benchmark MSCI Emerg Mkts Index 131,365 2.4 2.3 27.6 27.4 11.3 10.7 9.3 7.8

BlackRock Global * Global Equities +1-2% gross MSCI ACWI 571,872 2.0 0.4 26.0 22.2 16.3 14.9 10.7 9.8

BlackRock Aquila Life Global Equities Benchmark MSCI World Index 350,607 1.5 1.2

WAMCO Global Fixed Interest +1% net Composite (1) 302,303 -0.6 -1.2 5.4 3.8 9.7 9.9 7.0 7.2

WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest Benchmark 3 month sterling libor +2% 125,261 2.3 0.6 8.9 2.4 4.1 2.5 4.8 2.6

Hermes  Investment Property +0.5% net IPD UK PPF Balanced PUT 101,102 2.8 2.4 8.3 5.7 12.6 10.1 6.9 4.8

CBREI - GMM Property +0.5% net IPD-ABP Fund Index 44,663 1.4 2.6 n/a 3.8 6.5 9.7 10.2 9.8 8.6

Yorkshire Fund Managers Venture Capital n/a n/a 5,328 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Cash at BNY Mellon 103 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Legacy Fund Manager Assets 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

BNY MELLON FUND TOTAL 2,100,725 1.3 0.4 17.7 15.2 10.8 11.6 8.2 8.5

21.3 22.3

Year to 31st March 2017

15,367 Cash-in-house (Not included in BNYM performance reporting)
2,116,092 TOTAL FUND MV

Memorandum Information - Assets that were previously part of the original bond portfolio - where the Fund is hoping to achieve better
returns than that achieved by the bond portfolio

         £'000
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Portfolio

%
Benchmark

%
Blackrock Aquila Life Hedged Global Equities Benchmark MSCI World Index 177,067
Blackrock Aquila Life Unhedged Global Equities Benchmark MSCI World Index 173,539

Total 350,607

(1) Wamco Main Fund Composite Inception dates:
34% FTSE A Gilts over 5 years index (Gross) Total Fund - 01.04.05 CBREI GMM - 29.06.11

34% ML Sterling Non Gilts All Stocks Index (Gross) Standard Life - 21.03.05 WAMCO GMS - 06.09.11

32% FTSE A Index Linked Gilts over 5 years (Gross) BlackRock Global Fd - 01.04.05 ** BlackRock EM - 06.12.11
WAMCO - 01.04.05 Standard Life GARS - 15.11.12

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Hermes  Investment - 01.04.05 Blackrock Aquila - 10.02.17

** Changed to Global Fd from 08.03.12

* The new Global fund commenced 8th March 2012 replacing the regional funds and their benchmarks. Both performance and benchmark returns, for the original regional funds, are included above to the end of February 2012.

# With effect from 1st June 2016: Performance Target = +2% net. Benchmark = 2% capped  FTSE All share Index

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 of 1

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Committee Reporting Closing

2nd Qtr to 30th June 2017 *Bid Market Short term (pre Brunel)

Valuation Qtr End Strategic Asset

Asset Allocation (by mandate & asset class) as at Q2 30.06.17 Actual Allocation from 01.04.17
£000

UK GILTS 56,665 2.68%
UK BONDS 91,566 4.33%
UK INDEX LINKED 100,472 4.75%
OVERSEAS FIXED INTEREST 32,253 1.52%
OVERSEAS EQUITIES - NORTH AMERICA -12 0.00%
OVERSEAS EQUITIES - EUROPE 0 0.00%
DERIVATIVES - FORWARD FX -547 -0.03%
LIQUIDITY 21,907 1.04%

WAMCO 302,303 14.29% 19.50%

WAMCO GMS 125,261 5.92%
WAMCO GMS - LIQUIDITY 0 0.00%

WAMCO GMS 125,261 5.92% 5.00%

FIXED INTEREST 427,565 20.21% 24.50%

UK EQUITIES 376,816 17.81%
LIQUIDITY 13,578 0.64%

UK EQUITIES STANDARD LIFE 390,393 18.45% 18.50%

EMERGING MARKETS - PASSIVE 131,365 6.21%
EMERGING MARKETS BLACKROCK EM 131,365 6.21% 4.00%

GLOBAL 571,833 27.02%
LIQUIDITY 38 0.00%

GLOBAL EQUITIES BLACKROCK GLOBAL 571,872 27.02% 22.50%

AQUILA LIFE CONSOLIDATION 350,607 16.57%
AQUILA LIFE CONSOLIDATION BLACKROCK AQUILA 350,607 16.57% 15.50%

0 0.00%
GLOBAL EQUITIES GMO BALANCE TO BE PAID OVER 0 0.00%

EQUITIES 1,444,237 68.25% 60.50%

PROPERTY UNIT TRUST 101,102 4.78%
HERMES 101,102 4.78%

GLOBAL MULTI MGR 42,158 1.99%
GLOBAL MULTI MGR - FORWARD FX 86 0.00%
GLOBAL MULTI MGR - LIQUIDITY 2,419 0.11%

CBRE 44,663 2.11%

PROPERTY 145,765 6.89% 7.50%

77,726 3.67%
MULTI ASSET STANDARD LIFE GARS 77,726 3.67% 5.00%

0.00%
PRIVATE DEBT 0 0.00% 2.50%

VENTURE CAPITAL 5,328 0.25%
VENTURE CAPITAL YFM 5,328 0.25% 0.00%

LIQUIDITY at BNY Mellon (Cash £102.90 +Hermes £0.05) 105 0.00%
ACCRUED LIQUIDITY 0 0.00%
IN-HOUSE CASH 15,367 0.73%

CASH 15,472 0.73% 0.00%

TOTAL ASSET ALLOCATION 2,116,092 100.0% 100.00%

*Bid Market Valuation as per SORP

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Board – Item 4
16 October 2017

Review of the
Pension Fund Risk Register 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

Introduction

The Administering Authority is required by the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations to maintain a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) 
and to keep it under review. The FSS is always reviewed as part of the 
Triennial Valuation.

In preparing the FSS, the LGPS Regulations require the Administering 
Authority to have regard to the best practice guidance issued by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). This 
guidance includes the need to identify risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
the measures or controls to be taken to help counter those risks. 

The Risk Register was last reviewed by the Pension Board in March 2017 and 
by the Pension Committee in March, June and September 2017. At the March 
and June meetings a number of changes were requested as detailed in the 
minutes for those meetings. All such changes have been actioned as 
appropriate.

Following feedback from the Pension Board the Pension Committee have 
agreed that in future a report on the Risk Register will be considered at each 
of their regular quarterly meetings.

Report

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
indicates the significance of each risk.

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a 
scoring system which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the 
potential impact of such an occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are 
scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both numbers together, the higher the 
product, the higher the risk.

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls 
are in place (i.e. the inherent and residual risks).
The risks are referenced as follows:

Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D)
Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R)
Governance Risks (G)

The Risk Register was last reviewed in August 2017 and a number of 
changes have been made, as follows: 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



Risk 
Reference

Summary of Changes

F2 Risk:  Inappropriate long term investment strategy . 
Change: New period comments inserted.

F4 Risk: Increasing Pension Fund deficit.
Change: New period comments inserted.

F9 Risk: The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) is proposing that 
local authorities will be classified as "retail" rather than "per se 
professional" clients under the European Union's Markets in 
Financial Instruments Directive (MiFIDII).
Change: New period comments inserted.

F/D2 Risk: Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively contributing 
employees declines relative to retired employees leading to the 
possibility of there not being sufficient liquid funds available to 
pay liabilities as they fall due.
Change: New period comments inserted.

All of the narrative changes are shown in bold italics in the risk register. 

Recommendation

The Board are asked to review and comment on the attached Risk Register.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 32



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER UPDATED IN AUGUST 2017 FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE PENSION COMMITTEE IN SEPTEMBER 2017 AND THE PENSION BOARD IN OCTOBER 2017

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F1 R
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the
anticipated returns underpinning valuation of
liabilities over the long-term

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 4 16

Only anticipate long-term return on a
relatively prudent basis to reduce risk of
under-performing.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist
advice, in a suitably diversified manner
across asset classes, geographies,
managers, etc.
Analyse progress at three yearly
valuations for all employers.
Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities
between valuations at whole Fund level.
Actuarial Review on a like for like basis
has confirmed a strong deficit recovery
plan.

2 4 8 ▲ Financial

Due to increased uncertainty following the
BREXIT vote and possible negative long
term implications, this risk will be
monitored to determine whether the
likelihood of this risk materialising needs to
be increased. Performance over the last 1
year and 3 year period exceed the
anticipated returns used as part of the
2016 valuation.

11/08/2017

To monitor the long term movements on
the fund and the investment returns being
achieved by each asset class to consider

whether any changes are required

Head of
Pension

Fund

Quarterly
monitoring

F2 R Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 4 16

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow
with actuarial estimates of future cash
flow position.                               Overall
investment strategy options including
diversification considered as an integral
part of the funding strategy.  Use of asset
liability modelling.   Actuarial Review on a
like for like basis has confirmed a strong
deficit recovery plan.

2 4 8 ▲ Financial

Phased movement to new allocation is
being undertaken in the context of

reducing exposure to equities whilst
maintaining adequate returns and

minimising new transition costs before
the transition into the Brunel Pension

Partnership. Phase 1 investment
proposals that were agreed following

the June meeting of the Pension
Committee have now been

implemented.

11/08/2017
Head of
Pension

Fund

Regular monitoring
of the phased

introduction of the
new Strategic

Asset allocation in
the context of

movement into the
Brunel Pension
Partnership.  

F3 R Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds,
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities.

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund
level allows for the probability of this
within a longer term context.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.
Some investment in bonds helps to
mitigate this risk.   Actuarial Review on a
like for like basis has confirmed a strong
deficit recovery plan.

2 3 6 ► Financial
Return forecasts taken into account as part
of the 2016 valuation of the fund and the
formulation of the new investment strategy.

11/08/2017

F4 R Increasing Pension Fund deficit The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Actuarial review via Triennial Valuation
and regular update reports.
Regular consideration by Pension
Committee on manager performance
relative to funding assumptions, funding
position and funding strategy.  Actuarial
Review on a like for like basis has
confirmed a strong deficit recovery plan.

2 3 6 ► Financial

Funding deficit reduced at 2016 Fund
Valuation and performance over the last
1 year and 3 year period exceed the
anticipated returns used as part of the
2016 valuation.

11/08/2017

F5 R Active investment manager under-performance
relative to benchmark.

Maximising investment returns to help
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses
market performance and active managers
relative to their index benchmark.
Diversification of investments across
asset classes and across different fund
managers

3 3 9 ► Financial

Due to increased uncertainty following the
BREXIT vote and possible negative long
term implications, this risk will be
monitored to determine whether the
likelihood of this risk materialising needs to
be increased. Performance over the last 1
year and 3 year period exceed the
anticipated returns used as part of the
2016 valuation.

11/08/2017

Transition of one active manager to
passive management. Strategic Asset

Allocation Review taking place. Monitoring
of Fund investment performance

Head of
Pension

Fund

Quarterly
monitoring

F6 R Pay and price inflation significantly more than
anticipated.

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 2 8

The focus of the actuarial valuation
process is on real returns on assets, net
of price and pay increases.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above,
gives early warning.
Some investment in index-linked bonds
also helps to mitigate this risk.
Employers pay for their own salary
awards and should be mindful of the
geared effect on pension liabilities of any
bias in pensionable pay rises towards
longer-serving employees.

3 2 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

1e

P
age 33



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F7 R Unexpected increase in employer’s contribution
rate 

To stabilise changes in employer
contribution rates over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has
been agreed for eligible employers as part
of the funding strategy.  Other measures
are also in place to limit sudden increases
in contributions.
Obtain information on financial strength of
individual employers. Discuss with
employers their ability to absorb rises in
their level of contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate impact
through deficit spreading and phasing in
of contribution rises, with appropriate
security from employers and further
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F8 R Orphaned employers give rise to added costs for
the Fund

To ensure individual employers in the
Fund are responsible for their own
costs 

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or
security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of
this happening in the future. At risk
employers are identified and are engaged
in discussions over remedial actions in
advance of retirement of all active
members.
If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the
added cost spread pro-rata among all
employers 

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F9 R

The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) is proposing
that local authorities will be classified as "retail"
rather than "per se professional" clients under the
European Union's Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive (MiFIDII).

If LGPS Funds are not classified as
Professional Investors investment
management costs are likely to
increase.

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Representative bodies such as the
national Scheme Advisory Board (SAB)
for the LGPS and the PLSA have
responded to the FCA’s consultation on
the implementation of MiFIDII, proposing
that local authorities should be deemed
professional clients, especially in the
administration of the LGPS pension fund.

2 3 6 Financial

The FCA issued their final policy
statement regarding MiFID II, PS 17/14,
in July 2017. his policy statement
confirmed that Local Authorities would
be deemed as Retail Clients by default.
However, local authorities,  in their
management of LGPS, would be able to
opt-up to being Professional Clients. PS
17/14 updated the opt-up criteria from
Retail to eligible Professional Clients to
facilitate, where appropriate, large
LGPS to be able to opt-up to
professional. As per PS 17/14, LGPS
need to:
Satisfy the qualitative test, which now
allows for the expertise to be collective
(pensions committee), instead of an
individual
- Satisfy the quantitative test:
         - assets higher than £10m.
and one of the following three:
         - undertaking 10 transactions on
average per quarter;
         - the person authorised to carry
out transactions employment in the
financial sector for at least 1 year in a
professional position; or,
         - (New) The client is subject to the
LGPS Regulation for their pension
administration business.
The Gloucestershire Fund is working
with other Brunel Funds to make the
appropriate application to be treated as
a Professional investor.

11/08/2017

P
age 34



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F/D1 R Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to
Fund.

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 5 2 10

Set mortality assumptions with some
allowance for future increases in life
expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access to the
experience of over 50 LGPS funds which
allows early identification of changes in
life expectancy that might in turn affect the
assumptions underpinning the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy
assumptions using ClubVita, which is a
specialised longevity company and
provides life expectancy assumptions
based on the profile of the Fund’s own
membership.
Administering Authority encourage any
employers concerned at costs to promote
later retirement culture.  Each 1 year rise
in the average age at retirement would
save roughly 5% of pension costs.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F/D2 R

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively
contributing employees declines relative to retired
employees leading to the possibility of there not
being sufficient liquid funds available to pay
liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Continue to monitor at each valuation,
seeking monetary amounts rather than %
of pay. Between valuations regularly
monitor level of active members on both a
total Fund basis and by individual
employer. Regularly monitor how cash
flow positive the Fund is. Regularly review
investment strategy.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The Fund commissioned Hymans
Robertson to undertake cash flow
modelling based on the following three
scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections
based on 2016 valuation membership
data, Scenario 2 – cash flows
projections based on 2016 valuation
membership data, with a 20% reduction
in actives, Scenario 3  - with a 40%
reduction in active members. This
modelling indicated that the fund will
remain cashflow positive until 2033
under scenario1, to 2026 under
scenario 2 and would immediately
become casflow negative under
scenario 3. Given that active
membership in the Gloucestershire
scheme is still increasing slightly it is
felt that scenario 1 is the most likely
outcome for the fund.

11/08/2017

F/D3 R A company admitted to the Fund as an admission
body may become financially unviable

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

A transferee admission body will always
have a funding guarantee from the
transferring scheme employer. A
community admission body will only be
admitted to the Fund if they have a
funding guarantee from a scheme
employer with tax raising powers. A surety
bond to cover the cost of paying pensions
early if the company goes into liquidation
is also generally required by the scheme
employer to cover the potential risk of the
admitted body becoming insolvent and the
value of this surety or bond is reviewed
regularly to ensure it provides adequate
cover for the financial risks involved

3 3 9 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F/D4 R Deteriorating patterns of early retirements
To ensure individual employers in the
Fund are responsible for their own
costs 

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Employers are charged the extra cost of
non ill-health retirements following each
individual decision.
Employer ill health retirement experience
is monitored, and insurance is an option.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F/D5 R Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit
recovery payments

To ensure individual employers in the
Fund are responsible for their own
costs 

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Require employers to pay sums due for
deficit recovery contributions as a fixed
monetary amount rather than being
expressed as a % of pay.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

F/D6 R Ill-health retirements significantly more than
anticipated

To ensure individual employers in the
Fund are responsible for their own
costs 

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-health
experience on an ongoing basis. The
employer may be charged additional
contributions if this exceeds the ill-health
assumption built in. Ill health insurance is
available to be purchased by individual
employers

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/08/2017

P
age 35



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F/D7 R

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment strategy
and employer contributions if large numbers of
active members are outsourced on a “closed” (to
new entrants) basis

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 3 3 9

Take advice from the Fund actuary on the
likely impact this will have on Fund
investment out performance assumptions
and employer contributions. Monitor levels
of outsourcings on a “closed” basis and
advise employers of implications so these
are taken into account when they consider
the business case for an outsourcing.
Regularly review investment strategy and
strategic asset allocation.

2 3 6 ► Financial
No significant impact to date, but the risk
will continue to be monitored on a regular
basis.

11/08/2017

F/D8 R
Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes due to
introduction of "Freedom & Choice" resulting in a
change in funding level

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 3 3 9

Taken advice from the Fund actuary on
the proportion of the Fund's active and
deferred members aged 55 or over and
the maximum exposure of the Fund to
these transfers, split between active and
deferred members. Considered impact on
funding level given different possible
levels of take up from active and deferred
members.

2 2 4 ► Financial 11/08/2017

A/R1 R

Significant additional costs resulting from changes
to national pension requirements and/or HMRC
rules e.g. changes arising from public sector
pensions reform, and/or more complex regulations
requiring increased administration resources.

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 3 3 9

The Administering Authority considers all
consultation papers issued by the
Government and comments where
appropriate. Considered different % take
up scenarios for active and deferred
members
The results of the most recent reforms
have been built into the 2013 valuation.
Any changes to member contribution
rates or benefit levels will be carefully
communicated with members to minimise
possible opt-outs or adverse actions. 

2 3 6 ► Legislative & Regulatory

As reported to the last meetings of the
Pension Board and Pension Committee, in
order to effectively deal with the increased
workload emanating from the new 2016
CARE scheme, additional resopurces have
now been invested in the Pension
Administration Team.

11/08/2017

A/R2 R Failure to collect and account for contributions from
employers and employees on time

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Regular monthly monitoring and
reconciliation of Fund contributions
received, including a detailed analysis of
individual employer contributions and
employee contributions by pay banding.
Robust debt management processes are
in place  to recover any late payments

2 3 6 ► Legislative & Regulatory 11/08/2017

A/R3 R Loss of funds through fraud or misappropriation

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Procedures and processes are in place
and applied in relation to eg: checking for
"ghost" scheme members;  multiple levels
of authorisation for claims and fund
payments plus secondary checking of
lump sum payments. Procedures are
documented and staff are trained and
managed in carrying these out. The
Fund's internal auditors carry out regular
reviews.

2 3 6 ► Fraud

The funds internal auditors regularly review
the adequacy of controls within the
Pensions Section. These reviews make
use of experienced Counter Fraud staff
who are available to the internal auditors.

11/08/2017

A/R4 R

Does the fund have sufficient resources to provide
sufficient input to the development of the Brunel
Pension Partnership in the context of the
importance of ensuring that the partnership
operates in an efficient and effective manner.

To ensure the fund is proactive in the
development of the proposals and the
robust control environment required for
the collective management of assets,
to avoid a detrimental impact on the
fund. 

Head of Pension
Fund 4 4 16

Additional staffing resources may be
required to facilitate dedicated staffing
resources to take forward the pooling
proposal. This may require additional
contributions from participating funds.

2 3 6 ► Legislative & Regulatory

Now that the partnership has developed to
the establishment of the new company,
with senior appointments being made,
limited senior officer resources can now be
more directed at the important client side
roles, including looking at the adequacy of
control systems.

11/08/2017

G1 R

Administering Authority unaware of structural
changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. large
fall in employee members, large number of
retirements) or not advised of an employer closing
to new entrants

The achievement of fully funded
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority has a close
relationship with employing bodies and
communicates required standards e.g. for
submission of data.
The Actuary may revise the rates and
Adjustments certificate to increase an
employer’s contributions (under
Regulation 38) between triennial
valuations
Deficit contributions may be expressed as
monetary amounts.

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2017

P
age 36



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

G2 R
Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or is
not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in some
way

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority maintains
close contact with its specialist advisers.
Advice is delivered via formal meetings
involving Elected Members, and recorded
appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to professional
requirements such as peer review

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2017

G3 R
Administering Authority failing to commission the
Fund Actuary to carry out a termination valuation
for a departing Admission Body.

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority requires
employers with Best Value contractors  (
Transferee Admission Bodies) to inform it
of forthcoming changes. The
administering authority also monitors
contract periods of Transferee Admission
Bodies and regularly monitors levels of
active employees across all employers
but particularly for Community Admission
Bodies. Where their active membership
materially decreases further steps are
taken.

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2017

G4 R An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient
funding or adequacy of a bond.

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority believes that
it would normally be too late to address
the position if it was left to the time of
departure.
The risk is mitigated by:
Seeking a funding guarantee from another
scheme employer.
Alerting the prospective employer to its
obligations and encouraging it to take
independent actuarial advice.
Vetting prospective employers before
admission.
Where permitted under the regulations
requiring a bond to protect the Fund from
various risks.
Requiring new Community Admission
Bodies to have a scheme employer with
tax raising powers as guarantor.
Reviewing bond or guarantor
arrangements at regular intervals.
Monitoring funding levels more closely as
approaching cessation and reviewing
contributions well ahead of cessation if
thought appropriate 

3 3 9 ► Governance 11/08/2017

G5 R Failure to comply with the Myners’ Investment
Principles

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Compliance as detailed in the Statement
of Investment Principles is kept under
regular review. 

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/08/2017

G6 R
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge,skills and
resources at officer and member level in relation to
administering the LGPS

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 3 12

Training needs assessments for the
Administering Authority are carried out
and an annual training plan produced.
The Fund subscribes to the CIPFA
Knowledge and Skills Framework for the
LGPS and makes this information
available to all members of the Pension
Committee and relevant officers.
Appropriately qualified external advisers
and consultants are used as appropriate.

3 3 9 ▲ Governance

As reported to the last meetings of the
Pension Board and Pension Committee, in
order to effectively deal with the increased
workload emanating from the new 2016
CARE scheme, additional resopurces have
now been invested in the Pension
Administration Team. However, due to
training needs of new appointees
performance against administration targets
will take time to improve.

11/08/2017

G7 R Failure to internally hold personal data securely and
keep pension records up-to-date and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 4 4 16

Personal data and scanned documents
relating to scheme members are
maintained in an online system with
logical access controls via individual
password access for those that need to
maintain and access this information.
Procedures for maintaining pension
records are documented and the process
is monitored and managed within the
Pensions Administration team.
Procedures are regularly reviewed by the
Fund's internal auditors. Physical access
controls are also in operation within the
Pension Fund office. 

1 4 4 ► Governance 11/08/2017

P
age 37



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

Ref O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

/R
is

k

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or
Consequences  if risk occurs and
related objectives Owner

Inherent Risk
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Category of Risk or Opportunity

Period Comments - where changed
since last considered by the Pension
Committee in June 2017 are shown in

bold italics.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.

Date of last
review. Further actions Owner Actions DueL/V I/B R L/V I/B R

G8 R

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key
information and data as a result of exploited
technological vulnerabilities facilitated through
malicious attack, primarily from external sources.

Efficient management of the Fund by
the Administering Authority, ensuring
it's responsibilities are met, while costs
are minimised

Head of Pension
Fund 5 4 20

Anti-malware and internet security
software. Patch management policies and
procedures. Compliance with PSN.
Internal and External ICT security
testing.Manging user privileges.

3 3 9 ► Governance 11/08/2017

P
age 38



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
This version of the 

report is a draft. Its 

contents and subject 

matter remain under 

review and its contents 

may change and be 

expanded as part of the 

finalisation of the report.

This version of the 

report is a draft. Its 

contents and subject 

matter remain under 

review and its contents 

may change and be 

expanded as part of the 

finalisation of the report.

The Audit Findings

for  Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Year ended 31 March 2017

Elizabeth Cave

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7885

E liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com

David Bray 

Senior Manager

T 0117 305 7889

E david.bray@uk.gt.com

James Stevenson

In Charge Auditor

T 0117 305 7624

E james.r.stevenson@uk.gt.com

21 July 2017

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 5



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2016/17 

DRAFT

2

Private and Confidential

Chartered Accountants

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and

its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details..

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings report highlights the key findings arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance (in the case of 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund, the Audit and Governance Committee), to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & 

Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with officers. 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) ('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards 

forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of 

the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, 

where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or 

other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility 

for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, 

any other purpose.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Yours sincerely

Elizabeth Cave 

Engagement Lead

21 July 2017

Dear Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 

Audit Findings for Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2017

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Shire Hall

Gloucester 

GL1 2TG

Grant Thornton UK LLP

Hartwell House

55-61 Victoria Street

Bristol 

BS1 6FT

T +44 (0)117 305 7600

www.grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 40



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

3

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 5

2. Audit findings 8

3. Fees, non-audit services and independence 19

4. Communication of audit matters 21

Appendices

A Action plan 

B Audit opinionP
age 41



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
Section 1: Executive summary

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

04. Communication of audit matters

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

P
age 42



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report
This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund ('the Fund') and the preparation of the Fund's financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2017. It is also used to report our audit findings to 

management and those charged with governance in accordance with the 

requirements of ISA (UK&I) 260,  and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 ('the Act').  

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Fund's financial statements give  

a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund. 

Introduction

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit approach, 

which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 7 April 2017. 

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in the 

following areas: 

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation; and

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion.

We have not yet received the Pension Fund Annual Report and so have been 

unable to check the consistency of that report with the financial statements. This 

does not affect our ability to issue our opinion on the financial statements, 

although we will not be able to issue our certificate for the administering authority 

until this work has been completed.

Key audit and financial reporting issues
Financial statements opinion

We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the 

commencement of our work, in accordance with the agreed timetable.

We did not identify any material errors or other areas requiring amendment in the 

draft financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

The supporting working papers were produced to a good standard and we received 

excellent cooperation from officers during our audit. 

Further details are set out in section two of this report.

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix A).

Controls

Roles and responsibilities

The Fund's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and monitoring 

the system of internal control.

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control 

weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control 

weaknesses, we report these to the Fund. 

Findings

Our work has not identified any control weaknesses which we wish to highlight for 

your attention.

P
age 43



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

6

Executive summary

The way forward

Matters arising from the financial statements audit of the Fund have been 

discussed with the Strategic Finance Director and other members of the 

finance team.

Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

21 July 2017

P
age 44



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
Section 2: Audit findings

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 45



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

8

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit. The standard 

states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £17.025m (being 1% of net assets. We have considered whether this level remained appropriate 

during the course of the audit and revised our overall materiality to £20.00m on receipt of the financial statements (being 1% of net assets). The increase in materiality 

reflects the increase in the Fund’s net assets.

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. In our plan we defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £851k (5% of materiality). Our assessment of the value of clearly trivial matters has been adjusted to reflect our revised 

materiality calculation and increased to £1.00m.

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that a separate materiality level was appropriate. 

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level

Management expenses Due to public interest in these disclosures £300,000 (increased from £200,000 at planning 

stage)

Related party transactions Due to the sensitive nature of related party transactions £20,000 (unchanged from planning stage)

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 

or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 

of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)

P
age 46



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

9

Audit findings against significant risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue. 

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 

the revenue streams at Gloucestershire Pension Fund, we have 

determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can 

be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including

Gloucestershire County Council as the administering body, mean 

that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Our audit work has not identified any issues 

in respect of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

• Review of entity controls, including IT.

• Review of journal entry process and selection of large and unusual 

journal entries for testing back to supporting documentation 

• Review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by 

management

• Review of unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any 

evidence of management over-ride of 

controls. In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and testing of 

journal controls and testing of journal entries 

has not identified any significant issues.

We set out later in this section of the report 

our work and findings on key accounting 

estimates and judgements. 

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, 

and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 

315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of business as 

giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)

P
age 47



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

10

Audit findings against significant risks continued

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed

Assurance gained and issues 

arising

Level 3 Investments valuation is incorrect

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant 

non-routine transactions and judgemental matters.  Level 

3 investments by their very nature require a significant 

degree of judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at 

year end.

 On a sample basis we have tested valuations by reviewing the most 

recent supporting information for individual investments.

 Reviewed the qualification of the fund managers as experts to value 

the level 3 investments at year end and gained an understanding of 

how the valuation of these investments has been reached.

 Reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered 

what assurance management has over the year end valuations 

provided for these types of investments.

Our audit work has not identified 

any issues in respect of the 

valuation of these investments. 

Audit findings

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to 

address these risks. 

P
age 48



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

11

Audit findings against other risks

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Investment income Investment activity not 

valid. Investment 

income not accurate. 

(Accuracy)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the fund 

managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and sought 

explanations for variances.

 Completed a predictive analytical review for the investments held.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

Investment 

purchases and sales

Investment activity not 

valid. Investment 

income not correct. 

(Accuracy)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the fund 

managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and sought 

explanations for variances.

 Tested a sample of individual transactions to supporting evidence

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

However, the Pension Fund includes all 

investments in the ledger at cost. It does not 

update the ledger entries to reflect any 

changes in market value, although the 

financial statements are prepared on the 

basis of the valuations at the year end. 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund maintains this 

information outside its main accounting 

system and therefore the financial statements 

do not mirror the ledger balances.

Investment values –

Level 2 investments

Valuation is incorrect. 

(Valuation net)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the fund 

managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and sought 

explanations for variances.

 Sought explanations for the large increase in level 2 investments since the 

previous year and agreed this to information provided by the custodian.

 For a sample of investments we agreed values in total to valuer's report and 

undertaken steps to gain reliance on the valuer as an expert. 

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  

P
age 49



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

12

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Contributions Recorded contributions not correct. 

(Occurrence)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 Controls testing over occurrence, completeness and accuracy of 

contributions.

 Tested a sample of contributions to source data to gain assurance 

over their accuracy and occurrence.

 Rationalised contributions received with reference to changes in 

member body payrolls and numbers of contributing pensioners to 

ensure that any unexpected trends are satisfactorily explained.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

Benefits payable Benefits improperly computed/claims 

liability understated. (Completeness, 

accuracy and occurrence)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 Controls testing over, completeness, accuracy and occurrence of 

benefit payments. 

 Tested a sample of individual pensions in payment by reference to 

member files.

 Rationalised pensions paid with reference to changes in pensioner 

numbers and increases applied in the year to ensure that any unusual 

trends are satisfactorily explained.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

Audit findings

P
age 50



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

13

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Member Data Member data not correct. (Rights 

and Obligations)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 Controls testing over the member data held by the Pension Fund.

 Tested a sample of starters, leavers and changes of circumstances to 

supporting documentation.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risks 

identified.

Audit findings

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” 

(ISA (UK&I) 570). 

We reviewed the management's assessment of the going concern assumption and the disclosures in the financial statements and concluded that it is appropriate for the 

Pension Fund’s financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis.

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 

relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 

processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 

(ISA (UK&I) 315) 

P
age 51



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

14

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue recognition Contributions are accounted for on an 

accruals basis, not simply when cash 

payments are made or received. 

The Fund account is prepared on a full 

accruals basis, with the exception of 

transfer values.

We have no issues to report over the:

 Appropriateness of the policy relating to contributions

 Adequacy of disclosure of accounting policy.



(Green)

Judgements and estimates Management has disclosed its 

accounting policy and  key estimates 

and judgements around:

 Asset Valuations (including Level 

3 Investments)

 Pension Fund Liability

 Accruals

We have no issues to report over the:

 Appropriateness of the accounting policies disclosed

 Adequacy of disclosure of accounting policy



(Green)

Going concern Officers have a reasonable expectation 

that the services provided by the Fund 

will continue for the foreseeable future.  

For this reason, they continue to adopt 

the going concern basis in preparing the 

financial statements.

We have reviewed officer's assessment and are satisfied with management's 

assessment that the going concern basis is appropriate for the 2016/17 financial 

statements.



(Green)

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Fund's policies 

against the requirements of the CIPFA 

Code of Practice. The Fund's accounting 

policies are appropriate and consistent 

with previous years.

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues which we wish to 

bring to your attention 

(Green)

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators (Red)  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure (Amber)  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient (Green)

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Fund's financial statements.  

P
age 52



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

15

Other communication requirements

Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with Officers and the Audit and Governance Committee of Gloucestershire County

Council. We have not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the

course of our audit procedures.

2. Matters in relation to related 

parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work.

4. Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Fund, which is included in the Audit and Governance Committee 

papers.

5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

 We sought management permission and obtained direct confirmations for pension fund cash balances.

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

7. Matters on which we report by 

exception

 We are required to give a separate opinion for the Pension Fund Annual Report on whether the financial statements included therein 

are consistent with the audited financial statements. Due to statutory deadlines the Pension Fund Annual Report is not required to 

be published until the 1st December 2017 and this report has not yet been produced. We have not been able to give this separate 

opinion at this time and are unable to certify completion of the audit of the administering authority until this work has been completed. 

until this work has been completed.” 

Audit findings

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 53



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

16

Internal controls

As noted earlier on page 5, our work has not identified any control weaknesses which we wish to highlight for your attention. No internal control issues were raised in 

the previous year.

Audit findings

"The purpose of an audit is for the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that the auditor has identified during 

the audit and that the auditor has concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported 

to those charged with governance." (ISA (UK&I) 265) 

P
age 54



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

17

Adjusted and unadjusted misstatements

Audit findings

No adjustments to the draft accounts were identified during the audit process. 

There were no misclassification or disclosure changes identified during the audit. 

There are no unadjusted misstatements.

P
age 55



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
Section 3: Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 56



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

19

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services.

Independence and ethics

 Ethical Standards and ISA (UK&I) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of matters relating to our independence. In this context, we confirm that there are 

no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

 We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

 For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Fund and Gloucestershire County Council. 

No non-audit or audit related services were undertaken.

Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees

Proposed fee  

£

Final fee  

£

Pension fund audit 23,799 23,799

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £23,799 £23,799

The proposed fees for the year were in accordance with the scale fee set 

by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA)

P
age 57



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
Section 4: Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 58



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

21

Communication to those charged with governance

Our communication plan

Audit 

Plan

Audit 

Findings

Report

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 

Expected modifications to auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 

Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions 

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters which we are required to 

communicate with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table 

opposite.  

This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key issues and other matters 

arising from the audit, which we consider should be communicated in writing rather 

than orally, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Fund's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Fund's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code. 

Communication of audit matters

P
age 59

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT
Appendices

A. Action Plan

B. Audit Opinion

P
age 60



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

23

Appendix A: Action plan

Priority
High - Significant effect on control system
Medium - Effect on control system
Low - Best practice

Rec

No. Recommendation Priority Management response

Implementation date & 

responsibility

1 Recording of investments in the 

ledger

In order to ensure the financial 

statements are in accordance with the 

Pension Fund’s main accounting 

system, we recommend that 

investments on the ledger are updated 

to reflect the current values. Ideally 

these should be done each time 

management accounts are produced.

Medium In the past SAP has only been updated to show realised gains and losses. This 

recommendation relates to SAP being updated to also show unrealised gains and 

losses. Now that the recommendation has been made the Fund will endeavour to 

update SAP during the closedown period in relation to the 2017/18 and subsequent 

years accounts, subject to the availability of the information from the Custodian 

within the closedown period.

By 31 May 2018

Head of Finance

Appendices

P
age 61



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

24

B: Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Fund with an unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND

We have audited the pension fund financial statements of Gloucestershire County Council (the "Authority") 

for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The 

pension fund financial statements comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and the related 

notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act 

and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published 

by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 

to the members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Strategic Finance Director and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Strategic Finance Officer (Chief Financial 

Officer) is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, which includes the 

pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and fair 

view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the pension fund financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf 

of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”)  and International Standards on 

Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the pension fund financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 

to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the pension fund’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Strategic Finance Director; and the overall 

presentation of the pension fund financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 

information in the Authority's Statement of Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 

pension fund financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect 

based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 

audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report.

Opinion on the pension fund financial statements

In our opinion: 

• the pension fund financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the 

pension fund during the year ended 31 March 2017 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the 

fund’s assets and liabilities, other than liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end of the fund 

year]; and

• the pension fund financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 

and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited pension fund financial statements 

in the Authority's Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the audited pension fund financial statements. 

Elizabeth Cave for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Hartwell House

55-61 Victoria Street

Bristol BS1 6FT

July 2017

Appendices

P
age 62



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2016/17 

DRAFT

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Board – Item 6 
16 October 2017

Implementation of the Markets in Financial Instruments Derivative

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 

A full report on the implications of MIFID2 and the opt up process to try and obtain 
professional investor status was reported top the Pension Committee on 1st 
September 2017.

At this meeting the Committee:

i. Noted the potential impact on investment strategy of becoming a retail client 
with effect from 3rd January 2018

ii. Agreed to the immediate commencement of applications for elected 
professional client status with all relevant institutions in order to ensure it can 
continue to implement an effective investment strategy.

iii. In electing for professional client status the committee acknowledged and 
agreed to forgo the protections available to retail clients.

iv. Agreed to approve delegated responsibility to the Strategic Finance Director 
and the Head of Pensions for the purposes of completing the applications and 
determining the basis of the application as either full or single service. 

Following the meeting of the Committee the standard self assessment questionnaire 
formulated by the Scheme Advisory Board and the LGA has been completed by 
officers from the Gloucestershire Fund. This questionnaire and the agreed standard 
letter has now been sent to all of the Fund Managers engaged by the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, with the full expectation that all will agree to the opt 
up to professional investor status for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Recommendation

That the Board notes the action taken by the Gloucestershire Pension Fund in 
response to MIFID2.

Contact

Mark Spilsbury – Head of the Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 001 

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund 
Funding update as at 30 June 2017

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
  

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 7



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 002 

Summary 
This funding update is provided to illustrate the estimated 
development of the funding position from 31 March 2016 to 30 June 
2017, for the Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”).  It is addressed to Gloucestershire County Council in its 
capacity as the Administering Authority of the Fund and has been 
prepared in my capacity as your actuarial adviser. 

The funding level at the latest formal valuation was 79.6%.  As at 30 
June 2017 the funding level has increased to 83.4%.  This represents 
a deficit of £435m at 31 March 2016 decreasing to a deficit of £417m 
at 30 June 2017.  A breakdown of this can be found in the graph on 
page 5 of this report. 

This report has been produced exclusively for the Administering 
Authority.  This report must not be copied to any third party without 
our prior written consent. 

This report looks at the whole fund position and does not allow for 
the circumstances of individual employers. The results for individual 
employers can be quite different to the fund as a whole depending on 
their own experience and the profile of their liabilities. 

Should you have any queries please contact me. 

 
Douglas Green 
Fund Actuary 

 
 

 

What’s happened since the last update – Ongoing funding basis 

 
 
Differences between this funding update and a full actuarial valuation 
The accuracy of this type of funding update calculation is expected to 
decline over time as the period since the last valuation increases.  This 
is because this funding update does not allow for changes in individual 
members’ data since the last valuation.       

Details of the approach used in this funding update are given in the 
appendix.  

The figures in tables throughout this document may not add up due to 
rounding. 

  

 (500)  100

(454)

(4)

(15)

55

1

(417)

Surplus/deficit - £m

Interest on surplus/deficit

Surplus/(deficit) as at 30 June 2017

Excess return on assets

Change in yields & inflation

Contributions (less benefits accruing)

Surplus/(deficit) as at 31 March 2017

P
age 68



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 003 

Estimated financial position at 30 June 2017 
Ongoing funding basis 

 
 
 
Investment return 

 

 

 

Market indicators 

 
Basis summary 

  

£m 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2017 30 Jun 2017
Assets 1,703 2,082 2,091
Liabilities 2,138 2,536 2,509
Surplus/(deficit) (435) (454) (417)
Funding level 79.6% 82.1% 83.4%

Quarter Ending %
30/06/2016 4.3%
30/09/2016 7.2%
31/12/2016 3.4%
31/03/2017 4.7%

The estimated returns are based on the most 
recent asset allocation shown on page 6 and 
the indices set out on page 10.

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2017 30 Jun 2017
Market yields (p.a.)
Fixed interest gilts 2.18% 1.66% 1.81%
Index linked gilts -0.96% -1.67% -1.54%
Implied inflation (RPI) 3.20% 3.40% 3.40%
Implied inflation (CPI) 2.20% 2.40% 2.40%
AA corporate bonds 3.36% 2.51% 2.57%
AOA 1.80% 1.80% 1.80%

Price indices
FTSE All Share 3,395 3,990 4,002
FTSE 100 6,175 7,323 7,313

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2017 30 Jun 2017
Pre retirement discount rate
Nominal 4.0% 3.5% 3.6%
Real 0.8% 0.1% 0.2%
Post retirement discount rate
Nominal 4.0% 3.5% 3.6%
Real 0.8% 0.1% 0.2%

Salary increase rate 2.5% 2.7% 2.7%
The assumptions underlying the funding bases are set out in the Funding Strategy Statement.
They are those set for the 2016 valuation of the Fund updated for market conditions  
as at the calculation date.

P
age 69



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 004 

Change in funding level since last valuation 

 
 

79.6%

83.4%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

31 Mar 16 30 Jun 16 30 Sep 16 31 Dec 16 31 Mar 17 30 Jun 17

Fu
nd

in
g 

le
ve

l

Ongoing funding basis

P
age 70



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 005 

What’s happened since last valuation? – Ongoing funding basis 

  

Overall effect 

Assets
 Asset value as at 31 March 2016 
 Contributions paid in: 125
 Benefit payments: (100)
 Expected return on assets: 85
 Excess return on assets: 278
 Asset value as at 30 June 2017 

£m
1,703

2,091

Liabilities
 Liability value as at 31 March 2016 
 Cost of benefits accruing: 116
 Interest on liabilities: 108
 Change in yields & inflation: 247
 Benefit payments: (100)
 Liability value as at 30 June 2017 

£m
2,138

2,509

 (500)  (400)  (300)  (200)  (100)  -  100  200  300  400

(435)

(23)

278

(247)

9

(417)

Surplus/deficit - £m

Actuarial gains/(losses)

Surplus/(deficit) as at 31 March 2016

Surplus/(deficit) as at 30 June 2017

Interest on surplus/deficit

Excess return on assets

Change in yields & inflation

Contributions (less benefits accruing)

P
age 71



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 006 

What caused your assets to change? 
Allocation at valuation date Allocation at 30 June 2017 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sterling total returns of major asset classes 

 

‐10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Mar 16 Jun 16 Sep 16 Dec 16 Mar 17 Jun 17

UK equities (FTSE All Share)

UK Property

Corporate bonds (iBoxx AA over 15 years)

Fixed interest gilts (FTSE over 15 years)

Index‐linked gilts (FTSE over 15 years)

Cash (LIBOR)

P
age 72



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017 007 

Sensitivity matrix – Ongoing funding basis 

 
Funding level 

Surplus/(deficit) – £m 
  

2.41 69.1% 76.4% 83.7% 91.0% 98.3% 105.7% 113.0%
(694) (530) (366) (201) (37) 127 291

2.21 67.3% 74.4% 81.4% 88.5% 95.5% 102.5% 109.6%
(762) (598) (433) (269) (105) 59 224

2.01 65.5% 72.3% 79.1% 85.9% 92.7% 99.5% 106.3%
(834) (669) (505) (341) (177) (13) 152

1.81 63.7% 70.3% 76.8% 83.4% 89.9% 96.5% 103.0%
(910) (746) (582) (417) (253) (89) 75

1.61 62.0% 68.3% 74.6% 80.9% 87.2% 93.5% 99.8%
(991) (827) (663) (499) (334) (170) (6)

1.40 60.2% 66.3% 72.4% 78.4% 84.5% 90.5% 96.6%
(1,078) (913) (749) (585) (421) (257) (92)

1.20 58.5% 64.3% 70.2% 76.0% 81.8% 87.6% 93.5%
(1,170) (1,005) (841) (677) (513) (349) (184)
5,119 5,850 6,581 7,313 8,044 8,775 9,507

Equity level (using FTSE 100 Price Index as a proxy)

Bo
nd

 y
ie

ld
s 

(%
 p

.a
.)

Better outcomes

Be
tte

r o
ut

co
m

es

83.4%

(417)

P
age 73



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017   
 

Appendix: Scope, methodology, reliances, limitations and market data
Scope 
This funding update is provided to Gloucestershire County Council as 
the Administering Authority of the Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund to illustrate the funding position as at 30 June 2017.  It 
should not be used for any other purpose.  It should not be released 
or otherwise disclosed to any third party except with Hymans 
Robertson LLP’s prior written consent, in which case it is to be 
released in its entirety.  Hymans Robertson LLP accepts no liability to 
any third party unless we have expressly accepted such liability in 
writing. 

Compliance with professional standards  
The method and assumptions used to calculate the updated funding 
position are consistent with those used in the latest formal actuarial 
valuation, although the financial assumptions have been updated to reflect 
known changes in market conditions.  As such, the advice in this report is 
consistent with that provided for the last valuation, as set out in the: 
 Valuation Assumptions Briefing Note 
 Funding Strategy Statement 
 Valuation Report 
 Rates and Adjustments Certificate 

This update complies with the following Technical Actuarial Standards:  
 TAS 100: Principles for Technical Actuarial Work   

 

How liabilities are calculated 
 The future benefits that are payable from the Fund (“cash-flows”) were 

calculated on a specific set of assumptions at the last valuation date.  
 These cash-flows (on the ongoing funding basis) are shown below. 
 These cash-flows were adjusted using available financial and Fund 

information to produce estimated cash-flows at post valuation dates.  
 The specific information used for this update is set out on the next 

page. 
 Market information is used to produce discount rates at these dates. 
 The estimated cash-flows are discounted to produce the 

estimated liability value at a specific date. 

 
How assets are calculated 
Assets are projected from the valuation date allowing for actual or 
estimated Fund cash-flows, actual quarterly returns (where available) 
and daily benchmark indices  

P
age 74



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017   
 

The update allows for:  
1   Movements in the value of the assets as measured by index returns and 

data from the administering authority where available. 
2   Movements in liabilities as a result of changes in yields and hence 

inflation and discount rate assumptions. 
3   Estimated cash-flows (contributions and benefit payments). 
4   Expected accrual of benefits for employee members accrued since the 

last valuation (based on projected salary roll). 
5   Demographic experience in line with assumptions. 
6   Variations in liabilities arising from the changes in RPI since the 

valuation date differing relative to assumptions. 
7   Benefit accrual in line with the 2014 scheme. 
The update does not allow for:  
1   Asset allocations differing from those assumed (other than when asset 

data is recalibrated based on available information). 
2   The asset values as at the date of this report have not been based on 

audited Fund accounts. 
3   Variations in liabilities arising from salary rises differing relative to 

assumptions. 
4   Differences between estimated and actual salary roll of employees.  
5   Variation between actual and expected demographic experience (e.g. 

early retirement or mortality). 
 
Membership data 
My calculations are based on the membership data provided for the most 
recent actuarial valuation.  Details on the quality of this data and a data 
summary can be found in the last formal actuarial valuation report. 

Limitations of this model 
In the short term, the typical main contributors to funding position volatility 
are movements in the value of assets held, liability changes due to yield 
movements, benefit changes and deficit contributions to the Fund.     

The accuracy of this type of funding update calculation is expected to decline 
over time.  Differences between the position shown in this report and the position 
which a valuation would show can be significant; particularly if there have been 
volatile financial markets or material membership changes (these are more likely 
to occur in smaller schemes).  It is not possible to fully assess the accuracy of 
this update without carrying out a full actuarial valuation. 

Liability calculations are performed on the valuation date, the funding 
update date, anniversaries of the valuation date and each month-end in 
between.  Interpolation is used for other dates shown in graphs.  Some 
asset classes are not easily tracked by the benchmark indices used in this 
model which can lead to significant differences between actual and 
projected asset values. 
  

P
age 75



 Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

August 2017   
 

Indices used to update projected asset values 
Some of the following indices have been used to update projected asset 
values in this funding update.       
 
 FTSE 100 
 FTSE 250 
 FTSE Small Cap 
 FTSE All Share 
 FTSE All World Series North America (£) 
 FTSE All World Series Japan (£) 
 FTSE All World Series Developed Europe (£) 
 FTSE All World Series Developed Asia Pacific (£) 
 FTSE All World Series All World Developed Ex UK (£) 
 FTSE All World Series All World Ex UK (£) 
 FTSE All World Series All Emerging (£) 
 UK Government Fixed Interest Gilts (Over 15 Years) 
 UK Government Index-Linked Gilts (Over 5 Years) 
 UK Government Index-Linked Gilts (Over 15 Years) 
 iBoxx A rated UK Corporate Bonds (Over 15 Years) 
 iBoxx AA rated UK Corporate Bonds (Over 15 Years) 
 iBoxx AAA rated UK Corporate Bonds (Over 15 Years) 
 iBoxx All Investment Grades rated UK Corporate Bonds (Over 15 Years) 
 IPC Property 
 Cash Indices LIBOR 1 Month 

 
The indices are a standard list and are not necessarily the same indices 
that managers have been asked to track or beat.  All indices used to 
estimate projected asset values are total return indices.  However, the 
market indicators quoted in this report are price indices, as these are more 
widely recognised.

Market information used to update liability values 
Some of the following market information has been used to update liabilities 
values in this funding update. 
 Nominal gilt yield curves derived from Bank of England data 
 RPI gilt inflation curve derived from Bank of England data 
 Nominal swap curves derived from Bloomberg data 
 Real swap curves derived from Bloomberg data 
 Inflation volatilities derived from the swap market 
 FTSE Actuaries UK Fixed Interest Gilts Yields (Over 15 Years) 
 FTSE Actuaries Index-Linked Gilts (3% Inflation) Yields (Over 15 Years) 
 iBoxx AA rated UK Corporate Bond Yields (Over 15 Years) 
 
Note: Market yields displayed in the market indicators table are on an 

annual basis. 
 

P
age 76



Document is Restricted

Page 77

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 125

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes , 29/03/2017 Pension Committee
	Minutes , 02/06/2017 Pension Committee
	Minutes , 01/09/2017 Pension Committee

	3 Asset Allocation and Investment Performance of the Fund
	Item 3.2 Asset Allocation and Investment Performance (Gross - Manager Performance)
	Item 3.3 Asset Allocation and Investment Performance (Asset Allocation)

	4 Risk Register
	Item 4.2 Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund RR FINAL FOR OCT 17 PENSION BOARD

	5 External Audit Report
	6 Implementation of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive
	7 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Funding Update
	8 Exempt Minutes
	Pen Cttee Draft Exempt minutes - 29th March 17
	Exempt Minutes - 2 June 2017 (Final)
	1 Sept 17 Exempt Mins

	9 Local Authority Pension Fund Performance Analysis
	10 Movement towards the new Strategic Investment Strategy
	12 Pension Administration Performance

